1980

Vilate B. McDonald and Evelyn Brough v. Barton Brothers Investment Corp. et al : Brief of Third-Party Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs are daughters of B. O. Brough, deceased. The decedent's estate, on December 16, 1970, contracted by Uniform Real Estate Contract (Exhibit A) to sell 22 acres of land at \$3,000 per acre to Barton Brothers Investment Corporation. The agreement further provided that:

"Buyer shall have the option of buying or refusing to buy the acreage west of the oil pipe line except that seller shall have the option of retaining one lot west of said pipe-line, to be adjusted in said payment due June 1, 1975."

The June 1, 1975 payment was to be the balance due under the contract. By Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase dated June 7, 1974 (Exhibit 1) Barton agreed to sell to Campbell property situated "east of Center Street, Kaysville, Utah, for \$8,500 per acre for approximately 36 acres-50 acres to be determined by survey", payable \$100 down and the balance on delivery of deed on or before July 1, 1974, and no exceptions or reservations were mentioned in Exhibit 1.

On July 29, 1974, Barton as seller contracted with plaintiffs (Brough daughters) by Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase (Exhibit B) to sell property described as

"2 lots to be chosen in Grand Oaks East subdivision to be recorded by Kaysville City. A part of the B. O. Brough estate. Pick of lots to be done within 10 days after recording."

The purchase price was stated to be \$5,000 payable \$1.00 down and the balance of \$4,999 due 30 days after completion of

offsite improvements in the subdivision immediately adjacent to said lots on the "base of \$2,500 per lot".

A warranty deed from the Brough estate signed also by plaintiffs as grantors to Barton Brothers Investment Corporation as grantee, dated July 15, 1974, was recorded July 30, 1974, (Exhibit 4). This warranty deed described the same 22 acres as set forth in the 1970 contract, Exhibit A, but made no exceptions, limitations or reservations.

Barton, by warranty deed dated July 18, 1974, recorded July 30, 1974, conveyed the same 22 acres to Golden West Development, Inc., again without any reservations or qualifications (Exhibit 3). L. A. Campbell was a principal stockholder in Golden West along with Wayne Parkin and John Duncan. Golden West caused the 22 acre plat to be platted as "Grand Oaks, Plat A" in Fruit Heights City, Davis County, Utah, which was recorded June 24, 1976.

James H. Brough, a brother of the plaintiffs, is a owner-broker of Brough Realty in Kaysville, Utah, and testified that he notified Barton of his deceased father's desire to have his sisters obtain lots in the Brough property, and that Jim drew up the Earnest Money Agreement on July 29, 1974, at the time of closing the Brough estate contract with Barton, in the presence of Gordon Gurr, Barton, and his sister, Vilate (Tr 12). Jim said that at closing \$2,000 was credited to Barton for the two lots his sisters were to get, calculated as 2/3 of an acre at \$3,000 per acre (Tr 14). Brough did not know of any sale by Barton to Golden West until after April, 1976 (Tr 15),

when he saw a preliminary plat of the property. The plat, (Exhibit E) shows a preparation date of January 1976; owner's dedication May 27, 1976, by Golden West Development, Inc., by L. S. Campbell and Wayne F. Parkin; a city council of Fruit Heights City approved June 1, 1976; and a recording on June 24, 1976. Jim testified that within about three to four weeks after April 23, 1976, he had conversations with Campbell and Parkin (Tr 16) and was informed by Parkin that the latter claimed no obligation to furnish the two lots; whereupon Brough called Barton and was advised that there was a misunderstanding and that Barton would see that those lots were delivered. Brough also claimed that his sisters had selected Lots 9 and 10 and were so marked in Brough's office and communicated verbally to Campbell and Parkin by Brough's agent. However, he acknowledged that Parkin said that Lot 9 was already sold. This brings in a conflict as to the time Brough made a selection in that Parkin's records showed that Lot 9 was sold February 8, 1977 (Tr 126) so the conversation with Brough was after February 8, 1977, in which event the Broughs did not make a selection within ten days after the recording date of June 24, 1976. Brough said that in his intital conversations with Campbell, his impression was that:

"At least there was hope of honor. I don't know I would say yes, we are honoring that, I'm not conveying that. He seemed to be aware of the transaction, some of the background to it, and gave me hope that yes, he was working with us." (Tr 29)

Brough said he did not have reason to believe otherwise until Wayne Parkin called. Brough admitted that he never personally advised Parkin (whose Secure Realty was handling the lots) that the two lots had been sold, but only indicated this on Brough's own chart in Brough's office.

Brough also admitted that Lots 9 and 10 in the recorded plat are situated east of the pipeline, whereas Brough intended "to pick west of the pipeline" (Tr 35). The land west of the pipeline is in Kaysville City (Tr 36), the land east of the pipeline was in the county until annexed by Fruit Heights and Brough assumed that the plat Brough's were interested in would be recorded by Kaysville City (Tr 38). Brough had indicated that in April 1976 he had marked Lots 9 and 10 on a copy of a subdivision plat marked Exhibit D, but when it was called to his attention that Exhibit D was signed by the city on June 1, 1976, Brough hedged that it may have been another plat which he could not locate (Tr 46). Brough also admitted on cross-examination that he did not know whether his first conversation with Campbell was before or after June 1, 1976 (Tr 47), and that his first conversation with Parkin was when Parkin told Brough that Lot 9 had already been sold (Tr 49).

Brough testified that the \$5,000 for the two lots was never tendered "because the lots were sold prior to the, to that date of tendering". The plaintiffs' complaint alleges a tender. Attorney Rodney Page, by letter dated February 4,

1977, to Barton advises Barton of the selection of Lots 9 and 10, and that Brough had been trying to work the matter out with Campbell but was unable to resolve the matter (Exhibit F). Page commenced suit on October 12, 1977, against one defendant, Barton Brothers Investment Corporation. On February 27, 1978, Barton moved to bring in Golden West and Campbell as third-party defendants. The Third-Party Complaint alleges:

"5. Defendant and third-party plaintiff purchased the twenty-three acres above mentioned in 1970 and at that time agreed to permit Violate B. McDonald and Evelyn Brough, plaintiffs herein, to select two lots from said twenty-three acres upon the subdivision of the tract. A Uniform Real Estate Contract provided that the plaintiffs would pay defendant and third-party plaintiff the same price tendered by defendant and third-party plaintiff for equivalent ground in the 1970 transaction.

6. Third-party defendant, L. A. Campbell, was informed by Jay Golden Barton of the aforementioned agreement, permitting the plaintiffs to select two lots from the twenty three acre tract.

7. At the closing of the purchase of the said twenty-three acres by the third-party defendants, L. A. Campbell acknowledged the aforementioned agreement between the plaintiffs and defendant and third-party plaintiff as part of the entire purchase and further agreed that the Uniform Real Estate Contract referred to above, would be assumed and honored by the third-party defendants.

8. In connection with the closing, the third-party defendants withheld payment to defendant and third-party plaintiff on one acre of the twenty-three acre tract in order to assure clearance of the original owners. Such payment remains untendered and in escrow at the Farmers State Bank at Woods Cross, Davis County, Utah.

9. Third-Party defendants have subsequently developed and sold most, if not all, of the ground within the twenty-three acres.

10. Third-party defendants have failed to provide two lots for the plaintiffs as agreed in the Uniform Real Estate Contract originally entered into by defendant and third-party plaintiff and subsequently assumed by the third-party defendants.

Said actions of the third-party defendants were intentional and fraudulent on the part of the defendant and third-party plaintiff and as a result thereof said third-party defendants should be liable for court costs, attorneys' fees and punitive damages sustained by said defendant and third-party plaintiff."

Golden West and Campbell answered the third-party complaint by denying the above allegations except Paragraph 9, and alleged as an affirmative defense that the claim was barred by the statute of frauds contained in Title 25, Chapter 5, Section 1.

The trial court made an open court ruling, the initial part of which is as follows: (Tr 183-185)

COURT'S RULING

"THE COURT: As to the defendant, Golden West Development, Inc., one of the third-party defendants, the Court finds no cause of action. I find nothing that would bring them into this. It's a separate entity, though maybe Mr. Campbell's ultra-ego. That certainly hasn't been brought out here and I find no cause of action against Golden West Development, Inc.

The Court has wide latitude. We have from the spring of '76 until the spring of '77, as to when the notice came out. I can just flip a coin and find out when this notice went out, I guess, that's how far apart the testimony is.

The Court thinks it's more reasonable to believe that the finding of the plat in it's preparation and the sale as uncontested by Mr. Brough, that it was sometime in the spring of '76, is the more reasonable date and the Court finds that notice was given at that date.

There seems to be a feeling that the plaintiffs should have gone and completed their performance before it was able to do so. The completion of the project, the off-site improvements as testified to in the fall of '77 as I recall.

The Court finds a Judgment against the defendant, J. Golden Barton -- no, the Barton Brothers Investment Company, and order specific performance. If that is

not possible, and I understand it is not but I think that's an alternative that the Court must do, then the Court finds the damages in the sum of \$22,900. That's the only figures before me. Plus, \$1,450.00 attorney's fees and costs of the court.

The Court finds that the actions of the plaintiff were with due diligence, and was reasonable. That the law would not expect them to offer the \$5,000 to the owners of the property when they had been informed that he absolutely wasn't going to convey it. The testimony, and it's not refuted, was that they stood ready, willing and able to pay that at any time.

The Court has a more difficult time with Mr. Campbell. Mr. Campbell's own testimony was that he knew of the agreement, he entered into an agreement, and indicated that sometime down the line they would take care of it, indicating to the Court that he felt he had a responsibility. He knew of the agreement, and then the question rises, does this take it out of the Statute of Frauds. The Statute of Frauds, of course, indicating that the land must, any contract dealing with land, must be in writing unless it falls within one of the exceptions.

The Court does find that this does fall in one of the exceptions, that Mr. Campbell does have a responsibility in that the agreement that he entered into and testified to as did Mr. Barton, took place prior to the granting of the deed and with discussions thereafter. The Court takes to mean that they would take care of it somewhere down the line, meant that the Broughs would receive that which they have contracted to receive and find for the plaintiffs and against the defendant, L. A. Campbell, the sum of \$22,900 in damages, \$1,450.00 attorneys' fees and costs of court.

The Broughs might understand they are not to get that twice, that's to be as between Mr. Campbell and Mr. Barton, the defendant Barton Brothers Investment Corporation."

Formal Findings of Fact were subsequently filed, which recited that the Barton-Brough transaction was closed on July 29, 1974 at which time Barton gave plaintiffs the choice of two lots to be chosen within ten days of recording of the plat

which was recorded in "the spring of 1976" and plaintiffs gave notice to Barton of the selection "in the spring of 1976"; that plaintiffs were ready and willing at all times to pay \$5,000 for improvements on the lots which were completed in the fall of 1977; that the lots in 1976 were selling for \$13,950 each; that Barton sold the land to third-party defendant in July 1974, subject to the contractual rights of plaintiffs to select two lots as provided in the contract, which was dated December 16, 1970; that at the time of closing between Barton and Golden West the sum of \$8,500 belonging to Barton was retained in escrow; that Campbell verbally agreed with Barton to provide plaintiffs with two lots called for in the contract dated December 16, 1970; and that although the Campbell agreement was "verbal in nature, the Court finds that Barton Brothers Investment Corporation fully performed their obligations under the verbal agreement, which performance constitutes an exception to the Statute of Frauds, which requires that contracts for sale of real property be in writing."

Judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiffs against Barton, ordering Barton to forthwith convey the two lots to plaintiffs who are to pay \$2,500.00 per lot for improvements, or in the alternative for judgment against Barton for \$27,900 less \$5,000 for improvements, and similarly judgment was entered against Campbell to convey the lots or to pay Barton \$27,900 less \$5,000. The \$8,500 in escrow was ordered returned to Barton

unless Campbell paid the judgment in which event Campbell would get the \$8,500.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DOCTRINE OF PART PERFORMANCE IS NOT AVAILABLE IN AN ACTION AT LAW FOR MONETARY DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF AN ORAL CONTRACT TO CONVEY LAND.

Appellant contends there was no oral contract by him to convey the two lots, but assuming the existence of an oral agreement which was otherwise sufficiently definite and certain to be enforceable in an equitable action of specific performance for conveyance of land because of part performance by the obligee, nevertheless, part performance is not available in the alternative remedy for damages.

In Ravarino v. Price, 123 Utah 559, 260 P2d 570 (1953), Justice Wolfe in an opinion which reversed the trial court's judgment for specific performance, added under comments 13 and 14:

"The second count in the complaint is an action at law for money damages; however, plaintiff cannot obtain relief on that basis. It is well settled in this jurisdiction that the doctrine of part performance is not available in an action for damages on an oral contract to convey land. Baugh v. Darley, 112 Utah 1, 184 P2d 335."

This holding was reaffirmed in the case of McKinnon v. Corporation, Etc., Latter-Day Saints, 529 P2d 434 (Utah 1974). In this trial court's oral opinion, he stated that he ordered specific

performance against Barton but,

"If that is not possible, and I understand it is not but I think that's an alternative that the Court must do, then the Court finds the damages in the sum of \$22,900." (Tr 184, lines 15-18)

Then as to Campbell the Court stated that the transaction was an exception to the Statute of Frauds and "find for the plaintiffs and against the defendant, L. A. Campbell, the sum of \$22,900 in damages, \$1,450 attorney's fees and costs of the Court." (Tr 185, Line 12-14)

The written judgment in Paragraph 1 orders specific performance by Barton and payment by plaintiffs of \$2,500 per lot; Paragraph 2 is an "alternate judgment" against Barton for \$27,900 less \$5,000 and \$1,450 attorney's fees against Barton and Campbell; Paragraph 3 is a judgment for Barton against Campbell for specific performance upon payment of \$2,500 per lot; and Paragraph 4 "in the alternative, awards Barton judgment against Campbell for \$27,900 less \$5,000 and for costs.

It is clear that the "alternate" judgment is for money damages for breach of an oral agreement to convey land and is not permissible.

The pleadings did not allege an equitable action. Plaintiffs complaint named only Barton as defendant, and recited an agreement of July 29, 1974, whereby Barton agreed to convey the lots, that the plaintiffs have tendered \$4,999 and defendant failed and refused to provide said lots as agreed. The prayer of the Complaint was:

complaint was:

"1. For an Order of the Court requiring the defendants to provide to the plaintiffs the lots as agreed in the agreement.

2. In the alternative for judgment against the defendants in an amount equal to the present value of the lots in question, together with interest thereon at the legal rate."

The prayer thus requests equitable relief in No. 1 and legal relief in No. 2. However, the third party complaint which is detailed supra pages 6 and 7 contains no equitable allegations and in fact in Paragraph 10 alleges that the failure of Golden West and Campbell to provide two lots for plaintiff was intentional and fraudulent "and as a result thereof said third-party defendants should be liable for court costs, attorneys' fees and punitive damages sustained by said defendant and third-party plaintiff". The complaint did not call for punitive damages against Barton, so it is assumed that the third-party complaint really intended that Campbell be liable for punitive damages and not "punitive damages sustained" by Barton as alleged. The prayer of the third-party complaint was for (1) what plaintiffs may recover from Barton; (2) the sum of \$5,000 as "the value of one acre for which payment was initially withheld; (3) for the sum of \$10,000 as punitive damages, and (4) for cost of court and attorney's fees.

Also, the judgment granting plaintiffs money damages against Campbell was improper for the reasons above stated and for further reason that plaintiffs prayed no relief against

Campbell who in fact was not a party to the Complaint and had no dealings with plaintiffs.

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF PART PERFORMANCE AS EXCLUDING THE OPERATION OF THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS IS EXTREMELY LIMITED.

We quote from *Ravarino v. Price*, *supra*, comments 6, 7 and 8:

"The doctrine is to be applied with great care, paying particular attention to the policy expressed in the statute of frauds and historical precedent where the limits have been defined by the process of inclusion and exclusion. In *Price v. Lloyd*, 31 Utah 86, 86 P. 767, 772, 8 L.R.A., N.S., 870, this court said: 'Courts of equity, in establishing the doctrine invoked by plaintiff, have not, by any means, intended to annul the statute of frauds, but only to prevent its being made the means of perpetrating a fraud. In order that a plaintiff may be permitted to give evidence of a contract not in writing, and which is in the very teeth of the statute and a nullity at law, it is essential that he establish [in equity], by clear and positive proof, acts and things done in pursuance and on account thereof, exclusively referable thereto, and which take it out of the operation of the statute.'

And in *Burns v. McCormick*, 233 N.Y. 230, 135 N.E. 273, 274, the Court of Appeals of New York, through Mr. Justice Cardozo announced: 'The peril of perjury and error is latent in the spoken promise. Such, at least, is the warning of the statute, the estimate of policy that finds expression in its mandate. Equity, in assuming what is in substance a dispensing power, does not treat the statute as irrelevant, nor ignore the warning altogether. It declines to act on words, though the legal remedy is imperfect, unless the words are confirmed and illuminated by deeds.'

[7] A careful analysis of the cases will aid in defining what constitutes part performance in the framework of the facts of the instant case. The act relied upon by plaintiff to invoke the doctrine is the purchase of a strip of land to be used as a

railroad spur in conjunction with the land which Mr. Price orally promised to convey. The doctrine, in its broadest scope, is that acts will constitute sufficient part performance if they are clearly referable to some contract existing between the parties, in relation to the subject matter in dispute, and as a result of these acts, the plaintiff has been defrauded. . . . A less liberal view is that the term 'part performance' is to be taken literally, and the performance must be something required in the identical contract.

This doctrine has found little support because many of the strongest cases, those where improvements have been erected on the land by a plaintiff in possession, do not involve any part performance at all, literally speaking. . . . It is also essential that the parol agreement or gift should be established by clear, unequivocal and definite testimony, and the acts claimed to be done thereunder, should be equally clear and definite and referable exclusively to the contract or gift.

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