1980

# Vilate B. McDonald and Evelyn Brough v. Barton Brothers Investment Corp. et al : Brief of Third-Party Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

SINCE THE PRESENT ACTION WAS AN ACTION IN EQUITY FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE AND MONEY DAMAGES WERE AWARDED ONLY AS AN ALTERNATIVE, THE DOCTRINE OF PART PERFORMANCE IS AVAILABLE.

Appellant's argument that the Doctrine of Part Performance is not available in an action at law for monetary damages for breach of an oral contract to convey land, was neither pleaded nor argued in the trial court, nor was the court's "alternate judgment" for money damages either formally or otherwise objected to by appellant at the time such ruling was made. (TR 184) In fact, when respondent Barton's counsel suggested that specific performance might still be possible, Mr. Fadel, appellant's counsel, argued against the possibility of specific performance, in favor of money damages. (TR 190) At no time did appellant ever object to or express any disfavor with the court's ruling that money damages should be paid as an alternative to specific performance where respondent's part performance made ineffective the operation of the Statute of Frauds.

Rule 46, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, states that while "Formal exceptions to rulings or orders of the Court are unnecessary," a party must, "at the time the ruling or order of the court is made or sought, make known to the court the action which he desires the court to take or his objection to the action of the court and his grounds therefore..."

Although appellant had ample opportunity to object to the court's ruling against him on this issue, no where in the transcript is there evidence that appellant ever objected to the alternative decree of money damages or to the use of the Doctrine of Part Performance on the presently stated grounds. This being the case, appellant should not be allowed to raise such an objection on appeal.

Had appellant stated such an objection to the court below, that court may not have given an alternate decree for money damages, but instead may have more diligently inquired after the possibility of specific performance, as was suggested by respondent's counsel. (TR 190)

Nevertheless, respondent Barton contends that appellant's first argument is invalid on its fact.

This was not an action only at law for monetary damages as appellant claims but rather, on the face of the pleadings as well as the ruling of the court, an action in equity for specific performance of appellant's promise.

Plaintiff's Complaint prayed as follows:

1. For an Order of the Court requiring the defendants to provide to the plaintiffs the lots as agreed in the agreement.
2. In the alternative for judgment against the defendant in an amount equal to the present value of the lots in question, together with interest thereon at the legal rate.

The prayer of the Third-Party Complaint was:

1. For any and all of what the plaintiffs may recover from defendant and third-party plaintiff.

Clearly, respondent included in its Third-Party Complaint a prayer for the same relief against appellant as was sought against respondent by plaintiffs. This prayer was for specific performance, with money damages only as an alternative.

The judgment of the Court was for specific performance, with money damages to be awarded only in the event that specific performance was impossible. (TR 184)

Section 25-5-8, U.C.A. (1953), Statute of Frauds, states:

Nothing in this chapter contained shall be construed to abridge the powers of courts to compel the specific performance of agreements in case of part performance thereof.

Since the present action was for specific performance and specific performance was granted, the doctrine of part performance was a completely valid argument in respondent's behalf.

The cases relied on by appellant to establish that part performance is not an available argument to defeat the Statute of Frauds in an action for monetary damages are distinguishable from the present case. In McKinnon v. Corporation, Etc., Latter-day Saints, 529 P.2d 434 (Utah 1974), the action was entirely one for monetary damages. Specific performance was not even requested. But in the present case, specific performance was both prayed for and decreed by the court. Only because specific performance was "impossible" was an alternate judgment for money damages declared at all.

In Ravarino v. Price, 123 Utah 559, 260 P.2d 570 (1953), the court's statement, quoted by appellant, that "It is well settled in this jurisdiction that the Doctrine of Part Performance is not available in an action for damages on an oral contract to convey land," was mere ill-supported dictum, since the court had already reversed the trial court's decree for specific performance on the grounds that the alleged part performance was insufficient to take an oral contract out of the Statute of Frauds anyway.

In Baugh v. Darley, 112 Utah 1, 184 P.2d 335, (1947) the Ravarino court's sole support for the "well settled" doctrine, again the action was one at law only, and no specific performance was pled or decreed, as an alternative

or otherwise.

Respondent contends that the doctrine of part performance should be available in the present case, as allowed by the court below.

## POINT II

### THE DOCTRINE OF PART PERFORMANCE AS EXCLUDING THE OPERATION OF THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS IS VERY BROAD.

Respondent reiterates part of appellant's quote from Ravarino v. Price, supra, comment 6:

In Price v. Lloyd, 31 Utah 86, 86 P. 767, 772, 8 L.R.A., N.S., 870, (1906) this court said:

Courts of equity, in establishing the doctrine invoked by plaintiff, have not, by any means, intended to annul the Statute of Frauds, but only to prevent its being made the means of perpetrating a fraud...

And in Burns v. McCormick, 233 N.Y. 230, 135 N.E. 273, 374, (1922) the Court of Appeals of New York, through Mr. Justice Cardozo announced:

The peril of perjury and error is latent in the spoken promise. Such, at least, is the warning of the statute, the estimate of policy that finds expression in its mandate.

Thus, according to Justice Cardozo and this court, the primary purpose for the Statute of Frauds is to avoid the possibility of perjured testimony of oral contracts. Yet, in the case at bar no possibility of perjury concerning the oral contract exists. Indeed, the most favor-

able testimony to respondent regarding the oral contract was that given by appellant himself. Appellant Campbell, testified concerning the oral contract as follows (TR 136):

Q. When did you make that agreement with him [J. Barton]?

A. That was when we first bought it.

Q. What date?

A. Don't ask me, I don't keep dates in my mind that good.

Q. Okay, Your Earnest Money Agreement was in June of '74, just to refresh your memory. Was it at that time?

A. Well, it was prior to that--I think it was prior to that signing of the Earnest Money or somewhere around that vicinity.

Q. I see, so some time prior to June of '74 you made an agreement with Mr. Barton to take care of the Brough sisters--is that what you are saying?

A. In that vicinity, yes.

The reason given by Justice Cardozo for invoking the Statute of Frauds is not present in the case at bar. But the reason for invoking the exception to the Statute of Frauds of part performance, as quoted in Price v. Lloyd, supra, is "to prevent its being made the means of perpetrating a fraud." The possibility of the Statute of Frauds being used to perpetrate a fraud in the present case compels allowing the exception.

Appellant, by his own testimony, admitted having made an agreement with respondent to honor the option

of the Brough sisters. This agreement was made to induce respondent to sell the subdivision to appellant. If appellant, after admitting having made the agreement, and after respondent had performed fully by selling the property in reliance on the promise, were then allowed to have the promise declared invalid for the Statute of Frauds, this would put the Statute of Frauds to the very use it was intended to prevent.

Appellant's claim that there was no clear oral agreement is also entirely unsupported by the evidence. We quote from Campbell's testimony on page 144 of the Trial Transcript, lines 4-12:

Q. Did you ever have any conversation with Mr. Jake Barton relative to an agreement which he had with the Brough sisters?

A. Yes. I had this previous negotiation with him at the very first when he said that he had this obligation.

Q. Did he represent to you that in fact he felt that he had a right to those two lots?

A. Oh, very definitely. He asked me if I would, you know, if I would acknowledge this and I told him that down the road we would work it out.

Barton testified that the agreement was in fact worked out "in quite minute detail prior to going into closing."  
(TR 162)

The trial court, in its Formal Findings of Fact, paragraph 16, accepted the foregoing testimony to the

effect that appellant, Mr. Campbell, verbally agreed to honor the agreement with the Brough sisters.

Finally, appellant subtitled his second argument by claiming that "The Doctrine of Part Performances as Excluding the Operation of the Statute of Frauds is Extremely Limited." We reiterate 25-5-8, U.C.A. (1953), Statute of Frauds, which states, "nothing in this chapter contained shall be construed to abridge the powers of courts to compel the specific performance of agreements in case of part performance thereof." The language of the statute makes very plain the desire of the legislature that the doctrine of part performance is to have a very broad application. Appellant has cited no case law which defeats the language of this statute, particularly as applied to the facts of the present case, where respondent's part of the agreement was fully performed, the oral agreement was admitted by appellant, specific performance was decreed by the court, and a failure to follow the statute would allow appellant to perpetrate a fraud.

### POINT III

APPELLANT'S ORAL PROMISE TO HONOR  
PLAINTIFFS' OPTION FOR TWO LOTS WAS  
PART OF THE ORIGINAL CONSIDERATION  
FOR THE SALE OF THE SUBDIVISION BY  
RESPONDENT TO APPELLANT.

Viewing appellant Campbell's own testimony most

favorably, the oral agreement came, not "on or after July 30, 1974," but "at the very first" (TR 144) "when we first bought it" (TR 136), prior to the Earnest Money Agreement (TR 136), or "sometime prior to June of '74" (TR 136). The record shows that Campbell was very certain in his own mind that he had made an agreement with and was obligated to Barton concerning the Brough lots when he first bought the subdivision from Barton. In fact, Campbell stated that, based on this he would have made a settlement honoring the agreement if only Barton had taken the initiative by contacting Campbell. (TR 141)

Thus, Campbell's agreement to honor the Brough option was part of the original consideration for the subdivision sold by Barton to Campbell. Barton would not have sold the property, had Campbell not agreed to honor the Brough option. And this was clearly the reason Campbell agreed "when we first bought it" (TR 136) to "work something out."

This was the view accepted by the trial court (Formal Findings of Fact, paragraph 14), which further found that Barton's obligation on this oral contract was fully performed (Formal Findings of Fact, paragraph 14), which performance consisted of the sale and transfer of title of the land to Campbell.

Appellant's cost analysis is completely irrelevant,

since Campbell, had he honored the Brough option, would have gotten exactly what he bargained for. Again, Campbell, by his own admission, agreed to deliver the two lots to the Brough sisters, should they so choose. By not honoring that agreement, Campbell left himself with a windfall-- property worth much more than the \$8,500.00 in escrow.

#### POINT IV

THE PRESENT ACTION IS ONE IN EQUITY FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE, AND THIS IS THE RELIEF WHICH WAS GRANTED; IN ANY EVENT, RESPONDENT SHOULD NOT BE WITHOUT A REMEDY MERELY BECAUSE OF THE WAY PLAINTIFFS APPROACHED AND PLEADED THE CASE.

The trial court ruled that "plaintiffs were not required to pre-pay the FIVE THOUSAND (\$5,000.00) DOLLARS for improvements where the defendant refused to convey the lots in question." (Conclusions of Law, paragraph 3)

Respondent respectfully submits that, were this court to reverse the trial court's ruling on this point with respect to appellant, the entire decision of the trial court should also be reversed with respect to respondent. For, if the plaintiffs were not excused from tendering the \$5,000.00 to Barton, then Barton should not be required to perform his part of the contract with plaintiffs.

Nevertheless, appellant contends that plaintiffs' failure to tender the \$5,000.00 shows that plaintiffs

never intended to obtain specific performance, and that the action was a legal action for damages, thereby precluding part performance as a basis for respondent's Third-Party Complaint. This contention is inapplicable to the present situation.

It should be pointed out that respondent is in a difficult situation regarding the technical distinction between actions at law and equity. The present case has involved two lawsuits, one by plaintiff against respondent, and the other by respondent against appellants. In the latter suit, respondent may only recover, at most, what plaintiff recovered from respondent in the former suit. But respondent is handcuffed in the latter suit by the plaintiffs' pleadings in the former suit. Thus, had the plaintiffs chosen only to seek monetary damages from respondent in an action at law, respondent could not then seek specific performance against appellant in his Third-Party Complaint.

Appellant would have the court believe that because this court in past cases has refused to allow use of the doctrine of part performance in an action at law, under very different fact situations, respondent should then be without remedy, merely because plaintiffs chose not to seek specific performance.

Respondent contends that: (1) the present case is

an action in equity; (2) the relief granted by the court was specific performance, an equitable relief; and (3) even if this court should find the opposite on both of these issues, the Doctrine of Part Performance should be allowed to defeat the Statute of Frauds on the unique facts of the present case.

#### POINT V

THE ORAL PROMISE MADE BY APPELLANT WAS NOT A MODIFICATION OF, BUT A PART OF THE ORIGINAL CONTRACT, AND THERE ARE SUFFICIENT MEMORANDA TO TAKE THE ORAL PROMISE OUT OF THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS ANYWAY.

Appellant's argument that a contract required to be in writing cannot be modified by an oral agreement is invalid for the following reasons:

First, as was discussed above, Campbell's promise to honor the Brough option was part of the original contract between Campbell and Barton.

Second, both appellant's brief and the evidence were ambiguous as to what particular written instrument embodies the entire contract. And even were Campbell's promise deemed a modification of some written contract, the court in Zions Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319 (1975), as quoted by appellant, pointed out that the statute of frauds applied equally to modifications of contracts as well as to original contracts. It follows that the ex-

ceptions to the statute of frauds should apply to modifications also. Thus, in the present case, whether or not Campbell's agreement is deemed a modification to or part of the original contract, Barton's obligations thereunder were fully performed, and the doctrine of part performance takes it out of the Statute of Frauds.

Third, the memoranda of the oral agreement are much more abundant in the case at bar than in Zions. There, notations on a check were the only concrete evidence of the oral agreement. Here, both the written memoranda and oral evidence are more than adequate to concretely establish the oral contract. The closing statement prepared by Mr. Busk of Tracy Collins Bank mentions the \$8,500.00 held in escrow for one acre, to allow for the Brough lots. (Defendant's Exhibit 2) Campbell's deposition and testimony shows that he knew what the \$8,500.00 was for and did not object to its being withheld at the time of closing.

The Earnest Money Agreement (Defendant's Exhibit 1), signed by Campbell, specified the purchase price of the property at \$8,500.00 per acre, which agrees with and further supports the escrow agreement.

The Tracy Mortgage Company check stub (Plaintiff's Exhibit C) also mentions a deduction for "2/3 acre in 2 lots being repurchased."

And finally, Mr. Campbell himself testified of his

oral agreement to assume Barton's obligation to the Brough sisters.

There can be no question that the oral contract existed, and the evidence establishes it clearly enough to easily satisfy the Statute of Frauds.

#### POINT VI

APPELLANT'S ORAL PROMISE MUST BE DEEMED  
AN ORIGINAL OBLIGATION AND NEED NOT BE  
IN WRITING.

Section 25-5-6, U.C.A. (1953), Statute of Frauds,  
states in pertinent part:

A promise to answer for the obligation of another in any of the following cases is deemed an original obligation of the promisor and need not be in writing:

(1) Where the promise is made by one who has received property of another upon an undertaking to apply it pursuant to such promise, or by one who has received a discharge from an obligation in whole or in part in consideration of such promise.

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